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Individuals access cultural goods and experiences in a myriad of ways. This 
cultural participation is linked to a number of areas of social and economic 
impact: social inclusion, education, innovation, well-being and health, and civic 
engagement. It can also be instrumental in tackling societal challenges from new 
angles, favouring resilience, skills creation, and prosocial behavioural changes. 
This chapter outlines why cultural participation is important for local development 
and should be viewed as a tool for policymakers in many fields, beyond cultural 
policy. It provides a comparative analysis of cultural participation at the national 
and regional level. It also highlights that effective culture-driven developmental 
policies depend on a deeper understanding of the way in which cultural 
participation generates social value, calling for more data and evidence on 
cultural participation. 

 

 

  

2 Cultural participation as a 
driver of social and 
economic impact 
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In Brief 
Cultural participation has numerous economic and social benefits, calling for 
broader policy visions to encourage it 

 Cultural participation can take both active (playing a musical instrument, painting, or 

performing in a play) or passive (listening to music, reading a book, or playing a videogame) 

forms. Moreover, new forms of creation and distribution (e.g. open platforms) are merging the 

production and consumption of culture in new ways.  

 Cultural participation has numerous positive benefits that remain under-exploited, from 

social inclusion to boosting health and well-being, as well as cultivation of skills and 

entrepreneurship. It can also promote behaviour change to address social challenges.  

 Cultural participation is higher in countries with higher public expenditure on culture, with 

likely mutually reinforcing effects. However, in EU countries two-thirds of people are reporting 

that they are not engaged in active forms of cultural participation (artistic activities). 

 In EU countries, cultural participation is higher among people with greater levels of 

education and income, raising challenges for social inclusion that policy needs to address. 

 National orientations seem to count with respect to the type of cultural participation: 

o Southern European countries (as well as Israel and Mexico) exhibit higher participation 

rates in activities where the entertainment component is stronger (live events and cinema). 

o Northern European countries show strong participation in activities in so-called "high 

culture" components, such as museum and library attendance. This may be partially 

explained by higher levels of education and public spending.  

 Regional variations in cultural participation are also noted within countries, in some cases 

with a core-periphery pattern, but not always. 

 Policy opportunities include: 

o Broaden the scope of the policy approach to cultural participation, to develop 

participation where it has potential positive effects: health, societal changes, research and 

innovation, environment and climate, education, etc.  

o Develop a common statistical framework, including for inter-regional and international 

comparisons, with timely and systemic data to measure and evaluate the effect of policy 

actions on cultural participation.  

o Promote research on the causal effects of cultural participation on other social 

impacts, and experiment with rigorous scientific evaluation standards. 

o Create new collaborations between cultural and non-cultural institutions, that may 

cooperate in the experimentation and implementation of crossover projects (e.g. between 

museums or theatres and hospitals, between orchestras and educational institutions, or 

between independent art spaces and urban planners, etc.). 

o Engage regional governments and institutions, as the regional scale is ideal to 

experiment at a level of complexity that is manageable for evaluation and accountability, 

balanced between the large national scale and small local scale. Peer learning across 

regions can create awareness of the potential and pitfalls of promoting cultural participation 

to support culture-driven local development. 
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Why cultural participation matters 

The direct and indirect impacts of culture on local development are largely achieved through 

cultural participation. Cultural participation includes the various ways and forms in which individuals may 

access or create cultural goods and experiences. Cultural participation can be active or passive. In active 

participation, individuals contribute directly and explicitly to the production of the cultural experience itself: 

playing a musical instrument, singing in a choir, drawing or painting, or writing a text. In passive 

participation, individuals’ access and enjoy the experiences and contents created by someone else. 

Passive participation includes listening to music, reading a book, watching a show, and attending an 

exhibition or a theatre performance. Cultural participation may have significant effects on many areas of 

social and economic impact:  

 Social inclusion: Access to cultural opportunities is far from uniform and depends on a variety of 

factors such as local access to cultural institutions or an individual’s income, education, ethnicity, 

and so on. Analysis of cultural participation patterns could help highlight mechanisms of social 

exclusion and marginalisation. In turn, the promotion of cultural participation can be a powerful 

driver of social inclusion and help mitigate factors leading to social and economic marginalisation 

through the development of social skills (Rivas, 2016[1]), of bonding and bridging social capital 

(Deloitte, 2019[2]; Tavano Blessi et al., 2012[3]; Brownett, 2018[4]), and of sense of self-worth and 

legitimisation of expression in many categories of disenfranchised individuals and communities 

(Matarasso, 1997[5]; Lindström Sol, 2019[6]).  

 Well-being and health: The COVID-19 related lockdowns and social distancing measures have 

made evident the importance of arts and culture for people’s mental and physical well-being 

(Ascolani et al., 2020[7]; Razai et al., 2020[8]), and to some extent health (Mak, Fluharty and 

Fancourt, 2021[9]). This recognition, which now builds on a vast and rapidly expanding body of 

research and experimentation developed in the last two decades (Fancourt and Finn, 2019[10]), 

provides a new opportunity to capitalise on the role of culture in the prevention and treatment of 

mental and physical illness across the lifespan, and more generally in the promotion of the broader 

goal of developing health and quality of life (salutogenesis), contributing to solutions for health and 

welfare systems, as defined in the Ottawa Charter (Eriksson and Lindtström, 2008[11]). 

 Cultural and creative entrepreneurship: High levels of cultural participation might be conducive 

to a favourable social environment for cultural and creative entrepreneurship (Bhansing, Hitters 

and Wijngarden, 2018[12]). Participation is therefore a tool to increase cultural and creative 

production and job creation as well as crossovers that generate innovation in other sectors 

(Lazzaro, 2017[13]). 

 Tackling societal challenges: In many cities and regions, cultural participation and the role of 

cultural and creative sectors are evolving. They are being used to tackle societal challenges 

(e.g. climate change, migrant integration) from new angles, favouring resilience, skills creation and 

prosocial behavioural changes (Giovanis, Akdede and Ozdamar, 2021[14]; Law et al., 2020[15]). 

 Social support for culture: High levels of cultural participation also create stronger support for 

public and private investment and cultural policies in public opinion, thus contributing to the 

financial and social sustainability of cultural and creative sectors (Miles and Gibson, 2016[16]).  
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Cultural participation has a range of definitions linked to the different 

approaches to culture more generally 

Cultural participation is difficult to define due to the variety of ways in which it can occur, and can 

take both active and passive forms. While virtually every human activity has in principle a cultural 

meaning and cultural implications, cultural participation refers to involvement in experiences in which the 

creation and sharing of meaning with a strong symbolic and aesthetic connotation have a primary role. 

Cultural participation can be active or passive whether the individual is “creating meaning” or being 

exposed to the meaning created by others.  

 In active participation, individuals contribute directly and explicitly to the production of the cultural

experience itself: playing a musical instrument, singing in a choir, drawing or painting, writing a

text, performing in a play, etc.

 In passive participation, individuals access and enjoy the experiences and contents created by

someone else. Passive participation includes listening to music, reading a book, watching a show,

attending an exhibition or a theatre performance, or playing a videogame (where there is clearly

interaction, but according to the rules pre-defined by the game designer).

Several international definitions are used for cultural participation (Box 2.1). The United Nations 

Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO) framework identifies cultural participation as 

a distinct phase of a “culture cycle” whose steps are: creation, production, dissemination, 

exhibition/reception/transmission, and consumption/participation (UNESCO, 2009[17]). The European 

Union places special emphasis on the notion of access to culture for diverse population groups, which 

implies a policy objective of removing barriers that prevent such access (Pasukowska-Schnass, 2017[18]).  

Traditionally, cultural participation definitions focus on participation as a form of cultural 

consumption. Although this form is central, there are opportunities to go beyond and include activities 

related to producing content. Today, people have at their disposal an unprecedented set of tools and skills 

that enables practically everybody to create and share cultural and creative content. Cultural participation 

should not be identified exclusively with passive exposure in the role of the “audience”. “High” art and 

culture itself is a cultural construct with complex social implications (Katz-Gerro, 1999[19]), therefore 

characterising participation in this way implicitly limits the scope of the definition. 

Box 2.1. International definitions of cultural participation 

 The 2009 UNESCO Framework of Cultural Statistics defines cultural participation as “the

activities of audiences and participants in consuming cultural products and taking part in cultural

activities and experiences (book reading, dancing, participating in carnivals, listening to radio,

visiting galleries)”.

 Eurostat uses the definition of cultural participation according to the “ICET” model presented in

the ESSnet-Culture final report. This definition distinguishes four forms of participation:

o Information seeking, collecting and spreading information on culture;

o Communication and community — interacting with others on cultural issues and

participating in cultural networks;

o Enjoyment and expression — enjoying exhibitions, art performances and other forms of

cultural expression, practising arts for leisure and creating online content; and

o Transaction — buying art and buying or reserving tickets for shows.

In the ICET model, cultural participation includes people’s activities both as consumers of 

culture (e.g. reading books, going to the theatre, cinema, and concerts, visiting historical sites 
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and museums, etc.) and as active participants (e.g. playing a musical instrument, dancing, 

painting, or engaging in any activity with an artistic dimension). 

 The European Commission in the 2012 Report on policies and good practices in the public 

arts and in cultural institutions to promote better access to and wider participation in culture 

makes the following distinction:  

“Access and participation are closely related terms. Policies for access and participation aim to ensure 
equal opportunities of enjoyment of culture through the identification of underrepresented groups, the 
design and implementation of initiatives or programmes aimed at increasing their participation, and the 
removal of barriers. The concept of access focuses on enabling new audiences to use the available culture 
on offer, by ‘opening doors’ to non-traditional audiences so that they may enjoy an offer of cultural heritage 
that has previously been difficult to access because of a set of barriers. The emphasis on participation (to 
decision-making, to creative processes, to the construction of meaning) recognises the audience as an 
active interlocutor, to be consulted – or at least involved – in planning and creating the cultural offer.” 

Source: UNESCO (2009[17]), UNESCO Framework for Cultural Statistics, http://uis.unesco.org/sites/default/files/documents/unesco-

framework-for-cultural-statistics-2009-en_0.pdf; Eurostat (2021[20]), “Culture statistics – Cultural participation”, 

https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php?title=Culture_statistics_-_cultural_participation#Cultural_participation; 

EC (2012[21]), Report on Policies and Good Practices in the Public Arts and in Cultural Institutions to Promote Better Access to and Wider 

Participation in Culture, https://ec.europa.eu/assets/eac/culture/policy/strategic-framework/documents/omc-report-access-to-

culture_en.pdf. 

Broader and more comprehensive definitions of cultural participation can help policies promote 

new active forms with greater social and economic impact. Cultural participation in its most general 

and comprehensive form encompasses both passive and active forms of participation, as well as both so-

called “high arts and culture” and “popular arts and culture” activities. This also means that it is possible to 

find a participation dimension in practically all the stages of the UNESCO culture cycle: for instance, active 

participation may be directly related to cultural creation and production. Three different approaches to 

cultural production entail different notions of participation: the patronage regime, the cultural and creative 

industries regime, and the open platforms regime (Box 2.2) (Sacco, Ferilli and Tavano Blessi, 2018[22]).  

The three regimes of cultural production (and their associated forms of cultural participation) span 

the many possible ways in which the arts and culture of any kind may be meaningfully experienced 

by people. There may be market access where a price or fee must be paid. There may be free access, 

either individual or as part of a group or community. There may be access in the form of mutual exchange 

of content that is offered to others in certain formats and under certain conditions, and so on. Types of 

cultural participation are necessarily open-ended given the variety and complexity of possibilities, and their 

quick, ongoing evolution. 

Box 2.2. Three regimes of cultural production that help define cultural participation 

The patronage regime 
 In the patronage regime there is a sharp distinction between “high arts and culture” and 

“popular arts and culture”. In this model, only the former is prioritised for public support. The 

Western model of cultural production in its long pre-industrial phase, from antiquity to the 

modern age, has been built upon this regime. As cultural production in this regime is mostly 

publicly subsidised and not offered in the market, expert judgements decide which forms of 

cultural expression should benefit from the money raised from taxpayers. The cultural 

experiences offered by these cultural institutions are tailored to the knowledge and taste of ‘well-

http://uis.unesco.org/sites/default/files/documents/unesco-framework-for-cultural-statistics-2009-en_0.pdf
http://uis.unesco.org/sites/default/files/documents/unesco-framework-for-cultural-statistics-2009-en_0.pdf
https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php?title=Culture_statistics_-_cultural_participation#Cultural_participation
https://ec.europa.eu/assets/eac/culture/policy/strategic-framework/documents/omc-report-access-to-culture_en.pdf
https://ec.europa.eu/assets/eac/culture/policy/strategic-framework/documents/omc-report-access-to-culture_en.pdf


46    

THE CULTURE FIX © OECD 2022 
  

cultivated’ individuals. Others can feel at ill ease in such environments, requiring a strategy to 

engage a wider and more socio-economically and educationally diverse public.   

The cultural and creative industries regime 
 In the cultural and creative industries regime, the distinction between “high arts and 

culture” and “popular arts and culture” is less important, what matters is a public 

seeking to consume culture. The audience needs to be willing to pay for the cultural product 

at a rate that covers production costs and a profit. This regime emerged to cater for the rapidly 

increasing demand for mass entertainment associated with growth of the industrial era, and the 

consequent large-scale urbanisation and the improvement of standards and quality of life. Only 

those who can afford to pay the ticket for a music concert, a movie, a book, and more recently 

digitally pay walled content, can participate – with some limited scope for the subsidised 

participation of the less well-off. Under this regime, the size of the audiences grows 

considerably, up to the scale of truly global audiences with simultaneous access to the same 

cultural products and experiences. Large audiences also provide an ideal basis for stardom as 

an essential element of show-business that allows a strong engagement of the public that 

results in more willingness to pay for the creative products of the preferred stars.  

The open platforms regime 
 In the open platforms regime, the distinction between producers and users of content 

becomes blurred. This regime is the product of the increasing social demand for spaces of 

free and individual expression, sparked by the explosion of countercultures and subcultures of 

the 1960s and 1970s. The development of digital content production and circulation 

technologies has accelerated such transformation: everybody can use cheap and easy-to-use 

content creation and editing tools for video, photography, music, multimedia, publishing and 

much more. Social media allows the dissemination of user-generated content to wide, as well 

as very targeted, audiences. This new role is also that of a “prosumer”, merging the roles of 

producer and consumer with similar interests to engage in co-creation.   

 The “high arts and culture” versus “popular arts and culture” distinction is also blurred. 

Access to culture is no longer preferentially provided by cultural institutions (as in the patronage 

regime), nor by markets (as in the cultural and creative industries regime) but by the self-

organised output of communities of practice. These new, fluid forms of participation bypass the 

barriers posed by both socio-educational status and purchasing power. The only needed 

resource to participate is digital connectivity plus some level of digital capabilities. The digital 

platforms themselves, however, largely function with a traditional cultural industry logic of profit 

maximisation. 

Source: Sacco, P., G. Ferilli and G. Tavano Blessi (2018[22]), “From Culture 1.0 to Culture 3.0: Three socio-technical regimes of social and 

economic value creation through culture, and their impact on European cohesion policies”, http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/su10113923. 

Cultural participation is one of the most overlooked variables in cultural policy, despite its clearly 

fundamental role in the functioning of cultural and creative systems. Policy traditionally emphasised 

specific consequences of participation, such as its economic impact on the local economy, or the actual 

participation of specific groups of people, such as minorities or people with disabilities. But participation as 

a measure of the level of cultural activity of a population at a given geographical scale has attracted less 

interest. Consequently, data on cultural participation have been seldom collected, generally on an 

occasional basis, leaving little room for medium- and long-term analysis and for international comparisons. 

Furthermore, the benefits of cultural participation are not easily convertible into specific outcome measures 

http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/su10113923
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that can provide the kind of quantitative evidence base used in policy making, as they are mostly related 

to subjective experience. 

However, there is now an increasing awareness that participation is a key cultural policy variable, 

whose relevance goes beyond the cultural sphere itself. There is an increasing recognition (and 

scientific investigation) of how cultural participation is an under-recognised driver of behavioural response 

and change, which may affect various spheres of considerable policy interest. For instance, the recent 

launch of the EU New European Bauhaus flagship project that connects cultural engagement and 

participation to the greening of the European economy and society is a powerful illustration of this shift in 

mentality and of the new roles that are being assigned to culture in the policy toolbox to tackle the societal 

challenges. 

Cultural participation has numerous social and economic benefits 

Among the most under-exploited benefits of cultural participation is social impact 

Cultural participation influences a very diverse range of social impact areas. A partial list that reflects 

the main trends in current research and policy experimentation includes: health and well-being, social 

cohesion and intercultural dialogue, innovation, environmental sustainability, inclusive education, minority 

empowerment, new forms of social entrepreneurship, and community-driven urban and territorial renewal 

(Sacco, Ferilli and Tavano Blessi, 2018[22]). This list is likely to expand in the next few years, as a direct 

consequence of the increasing focus upon, and experimentation with, new forms of cultural participation 

targeting specific social impact objectives. For example, museums have been very active in this space 

harnessing cultural participation to address a range of social impacts (see Box 2.3). 

 However, cultural opportunities are far from uniform and heavily dependent on a variety of

factors such as income, education and ethnicity. Analysis of cultural participation patterns

could help highlight mechanisms of social exclusion and discrimination (Bennett and Silva,

2006[23]). Promotion of cultural participation may accordingly become a powerful driver of social

inclusion and a mitigator of factors of social and economic marginalisation (Trauth et al., 2019[24]).

The existing evidence provides many concrete examples of practices and projects (Sommer,

2014[25]), which suggest the potential of cultural participation as a main policy variable for

addressing conflict resolution (Marcow Speiser and Speiser, 2007[26]), intercultural dialogue

(Gonçalves, 2016[27]), social integration of marginalised communities and subjects (Lamb, 2009[28]),

and of migrants and refugees (McGregor and Ragab, 2016[29]), and better social integration of

elderly and fragile citizens (Teater and Baldwin, 2014[30]). These are all issues that rank very high

in the priorities of policy agendas in many countries worldwide, and in most OECD countries

specifically.

 Cultural participation has effects on people’s psychological well-being and health, which

has been emphasised in the current pandemic. This area has been recognised as a field of

primary strategic importance by the World Health Organisation, with the recent publication of a

comprehensive scoping review (Fancourt and Finn, 2019[10]) illustrating the breadth and articulation

of the numerous interventions, experimentations and scientific studies that explore various aspects

of this relationship. The relationship between cultural participation and increased life expectancy is

by now well documented by several longitudinal studies (Fancourt and Steptoe, 2019[31]). The

relationship between cultural participation and psychological well-being is also clearly established

(Grossi et al., 2012[32]), and such association is not explained by differences in socio-economic

status (Fancourt and Steptoe, 2019[33]). For example, a 2019 World Health Organisation review

identified a key role for the arts in preventing illness and promoting health, as well as managing

and treating illnesses throughout the lifespan (Fancourt and Finn, 2019[10]). Moreover, it has been

shown that the impact of cultural participation on psychological well-being depends on average

https://europa.eu/new-european-bauhaus/index_en
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levels of local cultural participation (Tavano Blessi et al., 2016[34]). Therefore, where collective 

cultural participation levels are higher, the well-being effect of participation on a single individual is 

higher, suggesting the existence of important social incentive mechanisms, but also the possibility 

of cultural poverty traps (Bucci, Sacco and Segre, 2014[35]). As the clinical experimentation of 

various forms of cultural participation in complementary therapeutic approaches is quickly 

developing (Nainis et al., 2006[36]), it is legitimate to think of cultural participation as a potential 

future pillar of an integrated health and well-being (salutogenetic) approach, to be applied to critical 

public health policy areas such as active ageing (Jacobsen, Lund and Bertelsen, 2018[37])., healthy 

lifestyles or disease prevention and coping (Stickley and Hoare, 2015[38]). 

The New European Agenda for Culture has launched an innovative approach that links cultural 

participation to specific areas of social impact, as a basis for research and policy design (EC, 

2018[39]). The agenda introduces the notion of “cultural crossovers” to denote the systematic and intentional 

“contamination” between the cultural sphere and specific social impact spheres, such as health, well-being 

and social cohesion. The notion of crossover is intentionally meant as an alternative to the more widely 

used notion of cultural spillover that emphasises the accidental, non-planned nature of the social impact 

of cultural activities. An example is the emergent “cultural welfare” policy paradigm creatively combining 

culture and health policies (Sacco, 2017[40]). This cross-contamination perspective is especially appropriate 

to explore possible strategies of social impact policies that combine apparently unrelated policy areas and 

related goals in innovative ways as a form of “lateral thinking” in collaborative, trans-sectorial policy design 

(O’Leary and Vij, 2012[41]). 

 Box 2.3. Cultural participation and social impact 

Cultural participation and inclusion 
 Museums and criminal rehabilitation: Since 2007, the Louvre Museum has partnered with

penitentiary authorities to lead workshops for criminal rehabilitation. In 2009, it took further steps

with an ambitious project at Poissy prison, working with inmates to stage an exhibition of quality

reproductions of Louvre masterpieces. The inmates then developed an artistic project, with

graphics and text, and created the exhibition catalogue.

 Partnering for migrant integration: Migration: Cities is an International Council of Museums

(ICOM) project led by the Collections and Activities of Museums of Cities Committee, in

partnership with the Commonwealth Association of Museums and the International Committee

for Regional Museums. It explores how museums can support the social inclusion of migrant

and refugee communities. The platform provides resources for museum professionals, policy

makers and community organisations, and supports partnership building between museums,

public authorities, community organisations and other sectors. Museum projects for migrant

integration are very diverse. For example, the Rotterdam Museum in the Netherlands engages

diverse community groups, including marginalised people, in the production of the museum’s

exhibitions.

 The Royal Opera House of Wallonia in Belgium implemented a collective project of

expression and creation “Another Carmen”. The project invites the network of youth centres in

the region to re-create famous operas, in this case the “Carmen”, by inspiring a debate on

societal issues, such as the role of women in society, and gender roles.

 The “Nós por Todos” inclusive project is organised by the Museum of Lisbon and a local

association dedicated to people with mental disabilities (Associação Portuguesa de Pais e

Amigos do Cidadão Deficiente Mental). The theatre company Nós, composed of people with
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mental and physical disabilities, performs a show on the history of Lisbon to schools. Their 

performance is preceded by a conversation to raise awareness of mental disability.  

Cultural participation, health and well-being 
 The National Concert Hall of Ireland established the “National Rehabilitation Hospital” project 

whereby a duo of musicians, trained in music for healthcare, visit the National Rehabilitation 

Hospital every two weeks to play in wards and common rooms. These activities foster a 

relationship among patients based on a shared cultural experience. 

 Since 2004, the Konstfrämjandet organisation coordinates the project “Art and health” in the 

southern part of Sweden. The project aims to spread art and exhibitions to retirement homes. 

The organisation provides retirement homes with a package containing works of art from one 

selected professional artist, information about the artist and an introduction to his or her artistry, 

and a manual for the staff at the retirement homes, with suggestions about how to introduce the 

artist and topics to discuss with the elderly hosts. 

 The French Museum of Confluences partnered with the Lyon Léon Bérard Hospital and 

Awabot, an enterprise specialising in robot development. Together, they provided children 

awaiting transplants an opportunity to digitally visit the museum by remotely driving robots 

throughout the museum. Children can ask questions to guides and interact with other museum 

visitors. The Museum also partners with the hospital Femme Mère Enfants for children to board 

an imaginary submarine to learn about aquatic creatures. These experiences seek both to 

educate children and stimulate their creativity as well as to mitigate their feeling of isolation. 

Source: OECD/ICOM (2019[42]), “Culture and local development: maximising the impact: A guide for local governments, communities and 

museums”, https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9a855be5-en; EU (2012[43]), Policies and Good Practices in the Public Arts and in Cultural 

Institutions to Promote Better Access to and Wider Participation in Culture, https://ec.europa.eu/assets/eac/culture/policy/strategic-

framework/documents/omc-report-access-to-culture_en.pdf. 

Cultural participation can help (or hinder) social inclusion, including through behaviour 

change  

One of the most commonly sought outcome measures of cultural participation is the educational 

performance of students. Some empirical research has highlighted that cultural participation does 

improve educational performance, for example in the field of music (Guhn, Emerson and Gouzouasis, 

2020[44]). However, the capacity to translate the benefits of cultural participation into school performance 

can be mitigated by many other factors, notably the family environment and more generally socio-economic 

status (Willekens and Lievens, 2014[45]). Moreover, occasional or compulsory cultural participation is 

unlikely to generate permanent benefits in this regard (Nagel, Damen and Haanstra, 2010[46]). Regular, 

sustained access is needed (Timoszuk et al., 2020[47]), and this becomes especially challenging for 

individuals from deprived neighbourhoods or with poor socio-economic and educational backgrounds who 

have fewer opportunities to cultivate their cultural interests (Mak, Coulter and Fancourt, 2021[48]). 

However, cultural participation may exacerbate existing social differences. A large stream of 

research in the sociology of culture has documented how cultural participation, and in particular access to 

high arts and culture forms, may function as a powerful marker of social distinction (Atkinson, 2011[49]) by 

facilitating the reproduction of class divides, rather than promoting social inclusion. The issue persists in 

the apparently more diverse and open digital participation sphere, threatening the development of an 

inclusive knowledge society (Mihelj, Leguina and Downey, 2019[50]). 

The capacity of culture to elicit complex emotional responses, and therefore influence behaviour, 

is under-used in policy discussions. The developmental potential of culture, and in particular of cultural 

https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9a855be5-en
https://ec.europa.eu/assets/eac/culture/policy/strategic-framework/documents/omc-report-access-to-culture_en.pdf
https://ec.europa.eu/assets/eac/culture/policy/strategic-framework/documents/omc-report-access-to-culture_en.pdf
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participation, has been mostly considered in terms of its direct economic impact in relation to cultural 

tourism and cultural and creative production - therefore as an instrumental form of value creation (Belfiore, 

2012[51]). In addition, there is an intrinsic capacity of culture to generate social value (and often, 

consequentially, also relevant economic value) by affecting human behaviour (Box 2.4).   

In the current debate on behavioural science-inspired policy, much attention is being devoted to 

mild, benevolently paternalistic forms of behavioural programming such as nudging (Halpern and 

Sanders, 2016[52]). However, top-down nudging approaches have not always proven effective (Osman 

et al., 2020[53]). They can also raise problems of fair and/or effective agency in the policymakers 

implementing them (Frey and Gallus, 2016[54]). Bottom-up, inclusive approaches to cultural participation 

which directly involve and empower citizens, bypass many of the drawbacks that are generally made to 

nudging and other “engineered” forms of choice architecture (Belknap et al., 2013[55]). Nudging approaches 

have also been applied to fostering cultural participation in the young, with little result beyond momentary 

priming (Lattarulo, Mariani and Razzolini, 2017[56]). Nonetheless, in the past few years, there has been a 

growing awareness that a culture-based approach is an especially promising policy perspective in the 

design of innovative strategies to tackle societal challenges from different angles than the ones of 

mainstream social and economic policies (Clover, 2011[57]; Heras et al., 2021[58]).  

Cultural policies can be effective at tackling issues where aspects of behavioural change or the 

understanding of pro-social emotions and attitudes plays such a central role. These issues include 

intercultural dialogue and conflict resolution (Bang, 2016[59]), global climate change (Burke, Ockwell and 

Whitmarsh, 2018[60]), welfare policies in favour of the most fragile members of society (Erel, Reynolds and 

Kaptani, 2017[61]), and the human development and empowerment of youth at risk (Brader and Luke, 

2013[62]), to name just a few examples.  

Box 2.4. The new frontier of neuroscience and culture 

Recent developments in cognitive psychology and neuroscience have helped to understand the 

profound impact of meaningful cultural experiences on people. Even in ancient times it was well-known 

that cultural experiences have a clear, recognisable role in tightening social bonds and eliciting complex 

emotional, cognitive and behavioural responses. One example is that of classical Greek theatre, where 

the kinesthetic choreia (circle dance accompanied by singing) has the explicit intent of provoking pro-

social emotions. Modern neuroscience documents that the strategic use of the mask in theatrical 

representations functions as a powerful activator of complex mechanisms of social cognition and 

emotional contagion (Meineck, 2018[63]). 

Fictional stories function as complex social simulations that help expand experience beyond one’s 

lifetime perspective and events, as well as improve social cognition (Oatley, 2016[64]). Watching a 

theatre performance or a movie powerfully activates forms of embodied cognition. Through the action 

of mirror neurons, they help make the audience feel personally involved in the action onstage, eliciting 

complex social emotions such as empathy (Gallese and Guerra, 2019[65]). The audience attending a 

theatre performance may even experience a gradual synchronisation of their heartbeats as the play 

goes on (Ardizzi et al., 2020[66]). This phenomenon is found to persist even after the end of the 

performance – a striking neural correlate of the onset of empathic social emotions. Similar effects of 

arousal generating pro-social emotions are found in other cultural experiences that involve highly 

coordinated social behaviours, such as collective dancing or singing in a choir (McNeill, 1997[67]). Music 

is, in turn, an extremely powerful source of complex emotional and cognitive response, which can also 

spark empathy through a shared emotional expression from listening (Clarke, DeNora and Vuoskoski, 

2015[68]). 
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Cultural participation is increasingly understood as contributing to good “brain health” (Smith et al., 

2021[69]). There are also encouraging results from experiments on how cultural activities can mitigate 

the negative effects of neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer’s or Parkinson’s disease for 

patients, and support better coping by caregivers and families (Pereira et al., 2019[70]) (Osman, Tischler 

and Schneider, 2016[71]). 

Source: Meineck, P. (2018[63]), Theatrocracy: Greek Drama, Cognition, and the Imperative for Theatre, Routledge, London; Oatley, K. 

(2016[64]), “Fiction: Simulation of social worlds”, Trends in Cognitive Sciences, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2016.06.002; Gallese, V. and 

M. Guerra (2019[65]), The Empathic Screen: Cinema and Neuroscience, http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780198793533.001.0001; Ardizzi, M. 

et al. (2020[66]), “Audience spontaneous entrainment during the collective enjoyment of live performances: Physiological and behavioral 

measurements”, http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-60832-7; McNeill, W. (1997[67]), Keeping Together in Time: Dance and Drill in Human 

History, Harvard University Press, Cambridge, MA; Clarke, E., T. DeNora and J. Vuoskoski (2015[68]), “Music, empathy and cultural 

understanding”, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.plrev.2015.09.001; Smith, E. et al. (2021[69]), “A brain capital grand strategy: Toward economic 

reimagination”, http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/S41380-020-00918-W; Pereira, A. et al. (2019[70]), “Music therapy and dance as gait rehabilitation 

in patients with Parkinson disease: A review of evidence”, http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0891988718819858; Osman, S., V. Tischler and 

J. Schneider (2016[71]), “‘Singing for the brain’: A qualitative study exploring the health and well-being benefits of singing for people with 

dementia and their carers”, Dementia, Vol. 15, pp. 1326-1339. 

Cultural participation can also reinforce civic participation 

Cultural participation interacts with, and possibly reinforces, other forms of civic participation such 

as political participation, volunteering and community engagement (Campagna, Caperna and 

Montalto, 2020[72]). Cultural participation might either reinforce motivations to pursue collective and public 

interest goals (Gilmore, 2013[73]) or preclude alternative forms of participation (for instance when it 

encourages discriminatory forms of in-group cultural identification (Jarness and Friedman, 2017[74])), and 

there are in principle reasons that might support both perspectives. It is likely that the mutual reinforcement 

vs. the social competition between different forms of cultural participation might depend on specific local 

conditions and circumstances. For instance, performing classical theatre as a high arts and culture activity, 

directly appealing to exclusive social circles and regulating admission through expensive tickets, might 

have as its main social consequence to limit participation to highly educated, affluent members of the 

upper-middle class (Gerhards, Hans and Mutz, 2012[75]). This would preclude interaction and cross-

fertilisation with local forms of popular culture. On the contrary, the same theatre repertoire could be 

enacted to tackle outstanding social issues by reaching out to less typical audiences such as marginalised 

groups or prison inmates (Keehan, 2015[76]). Which option prevails is basically a consequence of the social 

and institutional context in which a certain cultural experience is proposed and how it engages different 

potential constituencies. 

In an increasingly digitalised contemporary culture, levels of cultural participation might help 

achieve better levels of digital literacy (Hobbs, 2017[77]). Such literacy is quintessential to the full-fledged 

development of knowledge societies (Minariková and Novotny, 2020[78]) and mature democracies (Polizzi, 

2020[79]). Of special interest in this regard is the Indicator Framework for Culture and Democracy (IFCD) 

promoted by the Council of Europe (Anheier et al., 2018[80]). Digital skills include access to, and familiarity 

with, innovative technologies such as virtual and augmented reality, and the capacity to make use of digital 

creation tools, especially in the case of active cultural participation (Burgess, Foth and Klaebe, 2006[81]). 

With more and more cultural activities being mediated through digital means, cultural participation can help 

close gaps in digital fluency in lagging regions and geographically marginalised areas (Prinsloo and 

Rowsell, 2012[82]). However, this benefit of cultural participation relies on the availability of digital 

infrastructure, which is uneven across countries and regions. For example, OECD data shows that regional 

differences in broadband access between households significantly vary between capital regions and other 

regions, reaching a gap of over 30% in some countries (Figure 2.1) (OECD, 2020[83]). 

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2016.06.002
http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780198793533.001.0001
http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-60832-7
http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.plrev.2015.09.001
http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/S41380-020-00918-W
http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0891988718819858
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Figure 2.1 Share of households with broadband access, TL2 regions, 2021 or last available year 

 

Note: Large (TL2) regions. 2021 data, except: 2020 (ITA, MEX), 2019 (GBR, CAN, USA, POL,JPN), 2018 (KOR, ISR), 2017 (AUS, CHL). 

Source: OECD (2022[84]), OECD Regional Statistics (database), http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/region-data-en. 

Economic growth and innovation benefit from cultural participation, both market-based 

and other forms 

Economic impact studies tend to privilege forms of cultural participation that are mediated by the 

market and involve the payment of a ticket or fee. An unintended consequence of this approach is the 

assessment of cultural activities in terms of their capacity to generate revenues, therefore putting under 

pressure all those institutions where revenue generation is, for several reasons, not a central concern or 

at odds with the institution’s mission and scope (Belfiore, 2014[85]).  

However, new forms of economic impact, as promoted by the New European Agenda for Culture 

(NEAC) (EC, 2018[39]), can also occur from cultural participation, such as innovation and 

entrepreneurship, which plant the seeds for future impact. This agenda highlights the crossovers 

between cultural participation and innovation, on the one side, and education, on the other. These 

crossovers are based on the recognition that art-related skills may play an important role in innovation 

processes (Oakley, Sperry and Pratt, 2008[86]); that access to culture improves educational performance 

in students (Holochwost et al., 2017[87]); and, more generally, the accumulation of human capital (Crociata 

et al., 2020[88]). Moreover, high levels of cultural participation might be conducive to favourable social 

environments for the development of entrepreneurial models outside the sphere of cultural and creative 

sectors, but in which cultural and creative elements play a key role (Altinai et al., 2021[89]). Familiarity with 

challenging cultural experiences might help entrepreneurs develop skills of lateral thinking and problem 

solving, which are not typically developed in engineering or business schools (Berthoin Antal, 2012[90]).  

Finally, high levels of cultural participation can induce wider recognition of the professional 

opportunities and status of cultural and creative workers (de Miranda, Aranha and Zardo, 2009[91]). 

The fact that the social relevance and benefits of cultural participation are not sufficiently acknowledged 
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may provoke negative consequences that further exacerbate the marginality of culture. These include 

insufficient revenue streams for many providers of cultural and creative services (Siebert and Wilson, 

2013[92]) and content (Moyon and Lecocq, 2013[93]), low social appreciation and recognition of many 

cultural and creative professions (Geller and Denny, 2013[94]), with consequent limitations in their capacity 

of access to credit (IDEA Consult/Ecorys, 2013[95]), limited employability in non-cultural economic and 

social sectors (Mao and Shen, 2020[96]), reduced willingness of educational institutions to provide courses 

and training in the cultural sphere (Kingston, 2015[97]), and so on. Higher levels of cultural participation 

could not only improve professional opportunities for those working in cultural and creative sectors (CCS) 

and attract more skilled talent to these sectors but could also lead to greater recognition of the importance 

of cultural and creative skills in other economic and social activities beyond CCS (Higgs, Cunningham and 

Bakshi, 2008[98]). For example, such skills provide important and still under-recognised contributions in 

corporate environments, health systems, social services, and research and development (R&D) labs (Tom 

Fleming Creative Consultancy, 2015[99]).  

Box 2.5. Measuring the full economic and social value of culture and heritage 

Evaluating benefits and costs forms an important part of policy decision making. However, calculating 

the value of arts and heritage to a region, or to society more broadly is not straightforward. Economic 

value generation is typically measured by calculating the gross value added (GVA) of an industry sector. 

However, for many parts of CCS, the broader economic value generated by, say, a museum extends 

far beyond the revenue it derives from ticket sales. For example, museums can act as a magnet to 

attract visitors, spending money in other economic activities including restaurants, hotels and travel. 

This broader economic vale, as well as broader social value can be particularly important to consider 

for CCS units that offer free services (e.g. libraries). 

There are multiple alternative approaches to measuring the impact of arts and heritage in monetary 

terms which can be used in policy making: 

 Indirect and induced economic impact. These type of economic impact assessments look

beyond the direct economic contribution of an organisation and considers the broader economic

impact the organisation has on supply chains and jobs. Indirect impacts include value

generation across supply chains and visitor spending in the local economy. Induced impacts

include additional spending in the economy as a result of employment created.

 Contingent valuation. This method centres around what people would hypothetically pay for a

good or service if they needed to. It is calculated either by asking people the maximum they

would be willing to pay (WTP) for a good or service (e.g. a ticket to a museum), or asking how

much money they would be willing to accept (WTA) to not use a good or service. This can help

to assess the value of goods and services that are offered for free and to assess “consumer

surplus” or the amount of value a consumer places on a good or service beyond what they paid

for it.

 Travel cost. Similar to contingent valuation approaches, this method derives an individual’s

willingness to pay from the amount they invest in traveling to and from a particular place (e.g.

the cost of travel to a library).

 Choice modelling. This method derives value from assessing the decisions people make in

hypothetical scenarios (stated preference), or in real life (revealed preference). Here individuals

are not directly asked for their willingness to pay, but instead this willingness is derived from the

choices they make.

 Hedonic pricing. This is a revealed preference method that looks at price changes in a

surrogate market to determine additional value in the main market. For example, the cost of
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housing may be higher in areas with more cultural amenities. Hedonistic pricing models could 

be constructed to assess the extent of additional value in the housing market that can be 

attributed to local cultural amenities. 

 Subjective wellbeing. This approach considers the change in subjective wellbeing after 

participating in arts and cultural heritage. This method offers an indication of the broader social 

benefits of arts and cultural heritage. In some methodologies, an economic price can be 

attributed to this non-monetary indicator by inferring from the relationship between wellbeing 

and income. 

 Quality Adjusted Life Years (QALYs) and Disability Adjusted Life Years (DALYs). Similar 

to the subjective wellbeing approach, this method assesses the impact of arts and culture on 

physical health outcomes. These health outcomes can expressed as either years lived in perfect 

health gained (QALY) or years in perfect health lost (DALY). Further calculations can be made 

to attribute an economic cost the change in QALY or DALY as a result of participation in arts 

and culture. 

It is important to point out that any approach to calculating value could include both use and non-use 

value. For example, non-use value might include: the value of having the option to use a cultural 

institution in the future; the value to an individual for their children or family members to use a cultural 

institution; or the derived benefits of proximity to, or mere existence of, a cultural institution (e.g. impact 

on local environment, sense of pride in place or culture). 

Source: OECD/ICOM (2019[42]), “Culture and local development: maximising the impact: A guide for local governments, communities and 

museums”, https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9a855be5-en; Lawton, R. et al. (2021[100]), How to Quantify the Public Benefit of Your Local Museum 

Using Value Estimates: A Resource for Understanding the Value of Local Museums, 

https://www.artscouncil.org.uk/sites/default/files/download-file/ACE%20Local%20Museums%20Guidance%20Note.pdf.; DCMS (2021[101]), 

Valuing Culture and Heritage Capital: A Framework Towards Informing Decision Making, 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/valuing-culture-and-heritage-capital-a-framework-towards-decision-making/valuing-culture-

and-heritage-capital-a-framework-towards-informing-decision-making#an-introduction-to-culture-and-heritage-capital (accessed on 

14 March 2022). 

Cultural participation can also be used to address environmental issues such as climate 

change  

Even in fields that might seem weakly related to cultural participation, such as the environment 

and climate change, participation may provide important new routes for innovative policy design. 

For what concerns pro-social behaviours, such as complying with the guidelines of waste recycling, cultural 

participation is the best predictor of actual compliance, more than income or education (Crociata, Agovino 

and Sacco, 2015[102]). For some forms of cultural participation, a relationship with energy-saving 

behaviours (Quaglione et al., 2017[103]) and sustainable mobility choices (Quaglione et al., 2019[104]) also 

exists. More generally, future sustainability scenarios will be heavily influenced by the ability to internalise 

social norms of environmental responsibility by local communities (Yamin et al., 2019[105]). On the basis of 

the existing, preliminary evidence, culture is already providing a significant contribution in the deployment 

of the Agenda 21 (UCLG Committee on Culture, 2008[106]). Moreover, cultural participation might favour 

the emergence and diffusion of circular economy practices by stimulating individuals to embrace more 

sustainable consumption patterns which are less centred upon practices of purchase of material goods 

and more orientated toward the pursuit of meaningful experiences (Sacco, Williams and del Bianco, 

2007[107]). 

https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9a855be5-en
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/valuing-culture-and-heritage-capital-a-framework-towards-decision-making/valuing-culture-and-heritage-capital-a-framework-towards-informing-decision-making#an-introduction-to-culture-and-heritage-capital
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/valuing-culture-and-heritage-capital-a-framework-towards-decision-making/valuing-culture-and-heritage-capital-a-framework-towards-informing-decision-making#an-introduction-to-culture-and-heritage-capital
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Measuring different forms of cultural participation 

There are a range of measurement approaches, albeit not without challenges 

Despite the importance of cultural participation for many social and economic benefits, its 

measurement is infrequent and inconsistent. A general framework that defines participation in a 

comprehensive, widely adopted way, and that develops common standards of measurement and common 

systems of indicators would be of great value (Cicerchia, 2015[108]). Currently, there is a wide discrepancy 

as to what is defined to be part of the cultural sphere of participation in different countries, how it is 

measured, how often, and to what purpose. The most common measures tend to take into account time 

use, participation in particular cultural activities or attendance rates of specific entities, or even access 

through geolocalisation of cultural amenities (Box 2.6). 

Box 2.6. Main sources of cultural participation data and their limitations 

A number of sources (official statistics and complementary data sources) can be used to measure 

involvement of people in cultural activities (like reading books and newspapers, going to cinema, going 

to theatres and concerts and visiting cultural sites), and access to culture (e.g. availability of cultural 

amenities in a given territory). 

 Official statistics: Data on income and living conditions (e.g. European Union Statistics on

Income and Living Conditions (EU-SILC) and its ad hoc modules on social and cultural

participation), adult education surveys, surveys on the use of information and communication

technology (internet) for cultural purposes (e.g. European Union Community survey on ICT

usage in households and by individuals) can be used to measure the involvement of people in

cultural activities. Whereas these are helpful to draw a picture of cultural participation by age,

gender, educational levels, and often by income and origin, they also have a number of

limitations:

o Continuity: often cultural participation is measured through ad hoc modules within these

surveys which limits observations across time and comparisons across countries.

o Coverage at the subnational level: sample size at the regional level remains a caveat

(with a notable exception for EU Time Use Surveys which provide rich data on cultural

participation at NUTS II level).

o Difference in coding among variables also limits observations across countries and

regions.

o ICT usage surveys limitations include:

‒ the increasing take-up rate of digital services among the population would show a rise 

in digital access to culture that might not truly reflect a rise in general cultural 

consumption in the population; 

‒ digital consumption might cause a substitution effect, moving individuals away from 

consuming culture in more conventional ways. 

o Limitations of data on household expenditure on cultural goods and services include:

‒ underestimating the actual cultural consumption level, e.g. in countries where many 

museums are free for everyone (such as in the United Kingdom); 

‒ limited ability in controlling for technological developments. 
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 Complementary data sources (e.g. Internet–based data: TripAdvisor, Google maps etc.) can

be used for mapping of cultural places (e.g. museums, galleries, theatres) in a given territory as

well as to measure attendance rates. Limitations of complementary data sources include:

o Underestimates of the level of cultural engagement of certain groups of the population

or possible downward bias for sites that are less popular online than in real-life;

o Accuracy of online information;

o Legal considerations concerning disclosure of individual information on location.

There is an opportunity for a more systematic approach to measuring cultural participation taken 

up by national statistical institutes and other data-oriented institutions. The recent commitment of 

Eurostat to produce systematic data on cultural participation across Europe is an important step (Eurostat, 

2021[20]). Several countries such as Denmark and Germany conduct annual surveys on some elements of 

cultural participation, and other countries and regions also focus on specific issues such as barriers to 

participation (Box 2.7). As to the kind of indicators that could be useful as a first, basic benchmark that 

could be viable in terms of time and resources across countries in the OECD and beyond, considerations 

include: 

 Available audience data for all sectors of cultural activity for which they may be, or are already,

routinely measured: theatres, cinemas, newspapers, museums, television, digital content

platforms, etc.

 Sales data for cultural and creative products (books, music, cinema, videogames, etc.)

 Access data for online cultural and creative content (number and type of products accessed,

total viewing time, reactions such as comments, likes, etc.).

 General cultural participation indices such as the average number of cultural events from a

given list of categories attended yearly by a given individual.

 Active cultural participation indices such as the total number of hours spent yearly in activities

from a given list of categories by a given individual.

 Specific cultural participation indices, measuring individual time shares of passive and active

cultural participation, for given spheres of activity (music playing/listening, writing/book reading,

art-making/attending exhibitions, etcetera).

It would also be useful to include cultural participation-related questions in national censuses and 

surveys. This would help to track cultural participation choices and relate them to key demographics such 

as socio-economic and educational levels, age, sex, civil status, geographical location, etc. This would 

allow the possibility of designing and conducting survey experiments and to build in time longitudinal 

evidence to infer causal relationships between cultural participation and specific spheres of social and 

economic value creation. 

Box 2.7. Differences in measuring access to cultural activities in different countries 

Several countries conduct systematic surveys to determine access conditions to some specific cultural 

offers. The following examples highlight differences in data gathering across countries: 

User surveys 
 The Danish Agency for Culture, as part of the National Education Plan for Museums,

conducts national user surveys offering insights about the social demographics of museums
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visitors, how they use museums, and how they access them. The survey supplies systematic 

annual national overviews and provides each museum with a report on its specific users.   

 In Germany, since 1990, the Cultural Barometer (Kulturbarometer) is a measurement tool that 

highlights current attendance trends and developments in various cultural fields. It is conducted 

as a representative survey by the Centre for Cultural Research (ZfKf) in Bonn. 

User vs non-user surveys 

 The United Kingdom national network of Audience Development Agencies has worked since 

1998 on increasing access by hard-to-reach audiences. It provides an analysis of the 

segmentation of such audiences, their behaviours and needs by identifying specific groups, 

such as ethnic minorities, migrants, people with disabilities, families, young people, and the 

intergenerational public. It uses a combination of tools, such as the Insight Research of Arts 

Council England, socio-demographic area profiles and data provided by commercial companies 

(Mosaic/Acorn). 

 The Participation Survey is a large-scale research study in Flanders, Belgium which was 

conducted in 2004 and 2009. It focuses on participation behaviours, barriers to participation, 

and on mapping the supply of art, heritage, and socio-cultural activities. It gives insights on 

cultural participation trends in Flanders, possible levers for increased participation, and on 

possible explanations for different levels of participation. 

Source: EC (2012[21]), Report on Policies and Good Practices in the Public Arts and in Cultural Institutions to Promote Better Access to 

and Wider Participation in Culture, https://ec.europa.eu/assets/eac/culture/policy/strategic-framework/documents/omc-report-access-to-

culture_en.pdf. 

Evidence on cultural participation from selected data sources 

Given the fragmented and incomplete cultural participation data, it is difficult to analyse 

comparable evidence for a large number of countries. However, in 2015 Eurostat compiled results of 

an ad-hoc module on social and cultural participation that formed part of EU statistics on income and living 

conditions (EU-SILC). This relatively homogeneous and comparable cultural participation statistics for 

European countries provide a first useful benchmark in comparing participation rates across European 

countries. Due to the richness of cultural diversity across European countries, comparison of cultural 

participation data at the country level offers a number of interesting insights.  

Europe is divided into geographic blocks concerning levels of passive cultural participation, 

suggesting that factors of geographic and cultural proximity may influence participation rates 

(Figure 2.3). Splitting passive participation rates into four levels (low, moderately low, moderately high and 

high), we see that low levels of cultural participation (less than 48%) are found in South-Eastern Europe, 

mainly Italy and the Balkans. Moderately low participation rates (between 48% and 63%) are found in all 

Eastern European countries minus the Czech Republic, Estonia, and Slovenia, plus the remaining 

Southern European ones (Portugal, Spain, etc.). These two tiers are the ones that include countries whose 

levels of cultural participation fall below the EU average. Moderately high participation rates (between 64% 

and 79%) can be found in the Western side of Central Europe plus Estonia, Ireland and France. It is 

interesting to remark that Eastern European countries such as the Czech Republic and Slovenia are closer, 

in terms of cultural participation patterns, to the German-speaking part of Europe than to their Eastern 

European neighbours. Finally, high levels of cultural participation (80% or more) can be found in the Nordic 

countries plus the Netherlands and Switzerland. 

https://ec.europa.eu/assets/eac/culture/policy/strategic-framework/documents/omc-report-access-to-culture_en.pdf
https://ec.europa.eu/assets/eac/culture/policy/strategic-framework/documents/omc-report-access-to-culture_en.pdf
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Figure 2.2. Passive cultural participation across Europe, 2015 

Share of population aged 16 and over who visited cinemas, live performances, and cultural sites at least once in the 

last year 

 

Note: EU: estimate. Ireland and Poland: low reliability. Cultural attendance includes visits to cinemas, live performances, and cultural sites. 

Source: Eurostat (2021[20]), Cultural Statistics - Cultural Participation, https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-

explained/index.php?title=Culture_statistics_-_cultural_participation#Cultural_participation.  

https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php?title=Culture_statistics_-_cultural_participation#Cultural_participation
https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php?title=Culture_statistics_-_cultural_participation#Cultural_participation
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Figure 2.3. Passive cultural participation by cultural activity, 2015 

Share of persons aged 16 and over who participated in a cultural activity 

 

Source: Eurostat (2021[20]), Cultural Statistics - Cultural Participation, https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/culture/data/database. 

As a consequence, the expected impact of passive cultural participation on the various spheres of 

interest – health and wellbeing, social cohesion, innovation, etc. – is likely to be very different 

across European countries. Upper-tier countries will therefore likely provide the most favourable 

environment for the largest effect sizes. This means that also experimentation with cultural crossovers 

should take into account the differences in levels of cultural participation and design projects and 

interventions accordingly. In countries where effect sizes are expected to be comparatively larger, it would 

be possible to launch country-wide projects and experimentations, whereas in countries with lower levels 

of cultural participation it would be more constructive to experiment with regional or urban contexts where 

levels of cultural participation are likely to sit above the country average, and to progressively extend the 

pilot projects in high participation areas to lower participation ones.   

Disaggregating overall passive cultural participation into three main categories (cinema, live 

performances, and visits to cultural sites) shows that even in countries with low total cultural 

participation, some attendance of certain activities can be high (Figure 2.4). Whereas for certain 

countries the participation rates for the three categories of activity are fairly similar, others show larger 

variations. Balkan countries such as Bulgaria, Romania, Croatia, Serbia and North Macedonia present low 

participation levels for all categories. In the case of Greece and Italy, however, we find much higher levels 

of participation for certain categories (cinema and live performances for Greece, cinema only for Italy). It 

is meaningful that, in the case of these two countries which are especially renowned for their physical 

cultural heritage, visits to cultural sites attract significantly less participation than other categories. It is also 

of interest that the three Baltic States, together with Slovenia and Portugal, stand out for particularly high 

levels of participation in live performances. More generally, live performances are the category that 

features the highest level of participation in most countries, followed by cinema. Only in five European 

countries, visits to cultural sites are the category with the highest participation. 
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However, each country is characterised by its own mix of participation levels for specific activities 

that further reflect local socio-cultural and economic characteristics. For nearby countries whose 

aggregate passive participation levels are comparable, the country-specific mixes may differ. For instance, 

in two Nordic countries such as Denmark and Finland which both sit in the top cultural participation tier, in 

the former cinema is the most widely participated category and live performances the least participated 

one, whereas the opposite is true for Finland. In fact, although one can find some similarities in the 

disaggregated patterns across nearby countries (such as in the case of the three Baltic States where live 

performances clearly prevail upon the other categories), each one has its own mix, despite the similarities 

at the aggregate level. 

Figure 2.4. Frequency of passive cultural participation by cultural activity, 2015 

Share of persons aged 16 and over who participated in a cultural activity 

 

Source:  Eurostat (2021[20]), Cultural Statistics - Cultural Participation, https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/culture/data/database. 
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Statistics on overall passive cultural participation also disguise differences in concentration of 

cultural participation, as some countries may have fewer people attending cultural activities, but 

these participating individuals could be attending cultural events more frequently. Looking at 

frequency of passive cultural participation (Figure 2.4) country specificities become even more marked. 

For instance, as to the share of citizens that go to the cinema at least once a year, there are Nordic 

countries such as Sweden and Denmark that present higher overall values than France, but France has 

the highest share in Europe of citizens that go to the cinema at least 4 times a year. That is to say, 

aggregate levels of cultural participation may fail to reveal that in countries with relatively lower participation 

levels there may be a large share of “core” participants with especially high involvement in certain activities. 

A similar pattern is found for instance for live performances, where Finland has the highest share of 

attendance but Slovenia has the highest share of strong attendance (at least four times a year). 

The country differences in terms of frequency of access appear to be related to socio-economic 

inequalities in cultural participation (see Figure 2.5 and Figure 2.6). Cultural participation, in Europe at 

least, presents a strong positive correlation with educational and income levels, pointing out that still much 

is to be done to ensure more inclusive access to culture, especially given the potentially positive effect 

cultural participation could have on those that are socio-economically disadvantaged.    

Figure 2.5. Percentage of individuals who participated in cultural activities at least once during the 
year, by level of educational attainment, 2015 

 

Note: Persons aged 16 and over. Cultural participation includes visits to cinemas, live performances, and cultural sites. Education level is based 

on ISCED 2011. 

Source: Eurostat (2021[20]), Cultural Statistics - Cultural Participation, https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/culture/data/database. 

Indeed, in every country in the panel, the level of cultural participation increases with the level of 

educational attainment. In many countries, the participation gap between highly educated and less 

educated citizens is very large, whereas in a few others it is much narrower. The gap tends to be particularly 

big in countries with an overall low aggregate level of cultural participation, where the highly educated have 

levels of access that are close to the aggregate ones of high participation countries, and the less educated 

have extremely low levels of participation. In high participation countries, even the least educated have 

relatively high participation rates, and generally the higher the aggregate participation rate, the narrower 
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the gap between the most and least educated. Therefore, in Nordic countries, the overall gap is relatively 

narrow, in other countries sitting in the next lower participation tier such as France, Slovenia, the 

Czech Republic and Ireland the gap is wider. Policy action is therefore more urgent in countries with low 

aggregate participation rates.  

Figure 2.6. Percentage of individuals who participated in cultural activities at least once during the 
year, by income quintile, 2015 

 

Note: Persons aged 16 and over. Cultural participation includes visits to cinemas, live performances, and cultural sites.  

Source: Eurostat (2021[20]), Cultural Statistics - Cultural Participation, https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/culture/data/database. 

Looking at active participation (e.g. playing a musical instrument, dancing, painting, etc.), shows 

a slightly different pattern across national contexts (Figure 2.7). Some low-participation countries in 

terms of passive participation have a much higher position when considering active participation. For 

example, in Greece, 44% of the population had engaged in active cultural participation in the last year, 

well above the OECD average of 37%. Additionally, some of the countries with relatively high passive 

participation rates such as France and Belgium present some of the lowest active participation rates in the 

EU.  

Overall, around two-thirds of European citizens are estimated to never engage in active cultural 

participation (Figure 2.8). On average, 65.7% of people across the EU27 had not engaged in active 

cultural participation in the last year. In Belgium, Bulgaria, Croatia, Estonia, France, Ireland, Italy, North 

Macedonia, Portugal, Romania, Serbia and Spain this figure was above 75%. The large share of people 

not participating in cultural activities deserves special attention given the potential expected benefits. 

Better understanding of country differences in the rates and forms of participation could help to 

fully leverage the potential of cultural participation for economic and social value creation as well 

as inclusion. Although sizes are very different across countries, in every single European country there 

is a participation gap between the most and the least well-off, which implies that there is a need for more 

targeted inclusive cultural policies, the more so the lower the cultural participation level of a country overall.  
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Figure 2.7. Frequency of practice of artistic activities, 2015 

Share of persons 16 and over who participated in artistic activities 

 

Note: Artistic activities are defined as practices of playing a musical instrument, composing music, singing, dancing, acting, photography, 

filmmaking, drawing, painting, sculpting or other visual arts, handcraft, writing poems/short stories/fiction, etc. Only activities performed as a 

hobby are included. It is not important if the activities are organised or not. If the respondent performs more than one activity, the time spent on 

all of them should be counted. All activities performed as the respondent's professional activity are excluded (EC, 2015[109]). 

Source: Eurostat (2021[20]), Cultural Statistics - Cultural Participation, https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/culture/data/database. 

Figure 2.8. Frequency of active participation in artistic activities during the year, 2015 

Share of persons aged 16 and over in the EU who participated in artistic activities 

 

Note: OECD average (with available countries) shows identical numbers. Artistic activities are defined as practices of playing a musical 

instrument, composing music, singing, dancing, acting, photography, filmmaking, drawing, painting, sculpting or other visual arts, handcraft, 

writing poems/short stories/fiction, etc. Only activities performed as a hobby are included. It is not important if the activities are organised or not. 

If the respondent performs more than one activity, the time spent on all of them should be counted. All activities performed as the respondent's 

professional activity are excluded (EC, 2015[109]). 

Source: Eurostat (2021[20]), Cultural Statistics - Cultural Participation, https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/culture/data/database. 
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A regional view on participation patterns reveals in some countries a dualism between 

the capital and other regions 

Attendance data for some cultural activities are available from both European and non-European 

countries. Attendance data is gathered at delivery point (museum, library, cinema, theatre, etc.) rather 

than by user survey, and therefore covers attendance both by residents and by tourists.1 The list of data 

sources can be found in Annex Table 2.A.1. Specifically for European countries, this includes cinema 

attendance, library attendance (distinguishing between library visits and library users, as different 

European countries measure participation by using either one or the other indicator), museum and live 

shows attendance. For non-European countries, data is available only for museums and cinema 

attendance.    

 Libraries and museums are institutions that are the pillars of public cultural policies. These 

institutions have a primary mission is enable people to participate for educational and public 

interest purposes, and not to optimise revenues from paying visitors, and this is generally the case 

also for privately owned museums and libraries. Therefore, participation data on these institutions 

help us understand how non-profit-oriented cultural institutions engage residents vs. tourists.  

 Cinema and live performances are mainly profit-oriented and industrially organised. These  

data help to understand the balance of the cultural participation mix in a certain country as to 

entertainment versus educational motives.  

Different cultural activities present different geographies of cultural participation across European 

and non-European countries and regions (Figure 2.9 to Figure 2.11). Certain activities, such as 

museum attendance, generally feature high and often prevailing shares of tourists with respect to 

residents, whereas others, such as libraries, are mainly attended by residents. National orientations seem 

to count with respect to cultural participation, with Southern European countries (as well as countries such 

as Israel and Mexico) relatively more interested in activities where the entertainment component is 

stronger, such as in live events and cinema, and Northern European countries which are more interested 

in activities with stronger high art and culture components such as museum and library attendance. 

Moreover, countries with relatively low income are more limited as to access to relatively expensive 

entertainment opportunities such as cinema – similar to the relationship between income levels and cultural 

participation in the Eurostat data.  

These data reveal a clear North-South divide, with Northern European countries reporting much 

higher rates of cultural participation than Southern European ones, but the regional picture is more 

nuanced. The highest rates of cultural participation are typically reached in each country’s capital city 

regions. This reflects both the fact that such regions often host some of the most important museums at 

the national level and that they are also among the most attractive tourist destinations, such as Paris, 

Berlin, Rome, Madrid, Stockholm, Helsinki, Vienna, Prague, and Budapest.  

However, there are also different general patterns across different European countries. In France, 

the dualism between Paris and the other regions is very apparent, whereas in Spain almost all regions 

present relatively high rates of museum attendance. Italy is somewhat in the middle, with Tuscany and 

Campania getting close to Lazio (the capital city region), and other regions presenting lower rates, similar 

to the French case. It is interesting to notice that in Italy, a border region like Friuli-Venezia Giulia presents 

high levels of cultural attendance that partially reflect those of bordering Austrian and Slovenian regions.  



   65 

THE CULTURE FIX © OECD 2022 
  

Figure 2.9. Average number of museum visits per 1 000 inhabitants in Europe 

 

Source: Ad-hoc data collection, see list of sources in Annex 2.A. 

Figure 2.10. Average number of live shows attendance per 1 000 inhabitants in Europe 

 

Source: Ad-hoc data collection, see list of sources in Annex 2.A. 
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Figure 2.11. Average rates of public library users (top) and visits (bottom) per 1 000 inhabitants in 
Europe 

 

Source: Ad-hoc data collection, see list of sources in Annex 2.A. 
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In the case of museums, attendance data per capita is a misleading indicator of local cultural 

participation, as much of these attendance rates can be attributed to tourists. Museums are typically 

visited more by tourists than by residents. However, in less tourist-oriented regions, museum visits may 

also reflect the attendance of locals. For example, the country that presents uniformly high levels of 

museum attendance rates is Norway, which also has high cultural participation of rates of actual residents. 

Also of interest are the high participation rates of small, but very dynamic countries such as Estonia and 

Iceland. Eastern regions in Germany are characterised by higher participation rates than Western ones. 

There is also a relatively high level of cultural participation across the regions in Central Europe, spanning 

Southern Germany, Austria, the Czech and Slovak Republics, Northern Hungary, and South-Eastern 

Poland – an area with several cultural tourism destinations such as Prague, Vienna and Salzburg.  

Libraries, on the contrary, almost exclusively represent local attendance and therefore are more 

reliable markers of local cultural participation. Two alternative measures need to be considered, visits 

and users, as different countries use different criteria to measure library attendance. In Spain, for instance, 

the average rate of users is uniformly high across the country. However, the visit rates show that there are 

significant differences in terms of access, with Catalonia leading at the national level. Indeed, one of 

Catalonia’s most important festivals, the day of the Saint Patron Sant Jordi, is celebrated by girls buying 

books for their friends, showing how reading is deeply ingrained not only in cultural, but also in local social 

practices. For libraries, the geography of attendance is not easily organised in terms of a North-South 

divide within Europe. Once again, the unavailability of data for many European regions is a big limitation. 

Box 2.8. Proximity to cultural venues in Europe 

The Cultural and Creative Cities Monitor 
The Cultural and Creative Cities Monitor is a benchmarking tool designed and developed by the Joint 

Research Centre (JRC), the European Commission’s science and knowledge service. Its aim is to 

monitor and assess the performance of “Cultural and Creative Cities” in Europe providing benchmarking 

on a range of different quantitative and qualitative criteria. As part of the analysis, the report uses the 

open-source mapping tool OpenStreetMap to collate geo-localised data on museums, theatres and 

cinemas across European cities. 

The report finds that in about 40% of European cities, most people would reach the closest cultural 

venues within a 30-minute walk. In nearly half of the European cities analysed people are, on average, 

no more than 2 km away from a museum, theatre or cinema, with 75 cities identified as having over 

50% of the population within this distance. The cities with the highest population living within walking 

distance of a cultural venue were found mainly in southern Europe (seven out of the top ten from 

southern Europe), with cities in Northern Europe generally showing lower proportions. For example, in 

Paris and Athens, around 95% of the population live within 2 km of a cultural venue. However, there 

was wide variation across cities within a country. For example, while Paris had the highest proportion 

of people living within 2 km of a cultural venue, Montpellier had the third-lowest proportion at 50%. 

European cultural venues are generally well served by public transport. Analysis of the availability of 

bus stops in close proximity to cultural venues shows that in 150 out of the 179 European cities 

analysed, more than 50% of cultural venues are located in close proximity (within 500 m) to at least 

6 bus stops. In addition, in 74 cities, all the cultural venues considered have at least one bus stop 

available within 500 m. 

Source: Montalto, V. et al. (2019[110]), The Cultural and Creative Cities Monitor: 2019 Edition, http://dx.doi.org/10.2760/257371. 

http://dx.doi.org/10.2760/257371
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Moving beyond Europe, there are interesting national and subnational distinctions, albeit regional 

divides within countries are more marked for museum relative to cinema attendance (Figure 2.12 

and Figure 2.13). 

 In Asian countries such as Korea and Japan, participation patterns are also different across 

countries. Korea presents very high participation levels for both museum and cinema attendance, 

reflecting a broad interest in various forms of both high art and culture and popular culture 

experiences. In the case of Japan, there is a sharp split between high participation rates for 

museum attendance, but surprisingly low participation rates for cinema attendance.  

 Canada presents uniformly high rates of cultural participation for both museums and 

cinema, but the regional hubs are different. Quebec, which in the Northern American context is 

especially closer to Francophone Europe in terms of cultural distance, shows higher participation 

for museum attendance, whereas Ontario is more inclined toward the entertainment-related sphere 

of cinema attendance.  

 Israel, on the contrary, is overall more of a low-attendance country, but also with a regional 

dualism. Regional leadership in high art and culture is found more in Jerusalem, while 

entertainment-oriented forms of participation are more prevalent in Tel Aviv.  

Figure 2.12. Average number of museum visits per 1 000 inhabitants in Canada, Mexico, Israel, 
Korea, and Japan 

 

Source: Ad-hoc data collection, see list of sources in Annex 2.A. 
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Figure 2.13. Average number of cinema attendance per 1 000 inhabitants in Canada, Mexico, Israel, 
Korea, and Japan 

 

Source: Ad-hoc data collection, see list of sources in Annex 2.A. 

Time-use surveys help measure cultural participation, but it is difficult to extract culture-

related activities from the data currently collected at a national level 

Another important kind of data about cultural participation comes from time-use surveys which 

measure how citizens allocate their time across different activities. It could provide detail on the actual 

role and importance of culture-related experiences in the daily activity of people, which could be of great 

importance in designing a new generation of cultural participation-driven social impact policies. However, 

survey formats vary from country to country and discerning what is actually cultural participation is not 

obvious. 

In examples from Germany and Spain, there is not a specific category of time-use that directly 

refers to cultural participation (Table 2.1, Table 2.2). In fact, in the classification from Germany, culture-

related activities may fall into different categories at the same time: qualification and education, social life 

and entertainment, sport, hobbies and games, and media use. For Spain, cultural activities are split across 

many categories (social life and entertainment, hobbies, the media, and possibly also the outdoor activities 

part associated with sports (for instance visits to heritage sites). Currently, it is difficult to extract the needed 

information from the available data in countries. 
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Table 2.1. Time-use survey in Germany, 2012/13 

Average time use of persons aged 10 and older by sex 

Activities 
Total Male Female 

Hours and minutes per day 

Personal sphere, physiological regeneration 11:07 10:57 11:16 

Economic activity 2:43 3:19 2:09 

Qualification, education 0:32 0:33 0:32 

Housekeeping and taking care of the family 3:07 2:24 3:49 

Voluntary and community work 0:21 0:21 0:21 

Social life and entertainment 1:50 1:46 1:55 

Sports, hobbies, games 0:59 1:08 0:51 

Media use 3:03 3:15 2:52 

Source: Statistisches Bundesamt (2019[111]) Time Utilization (ZVE) 2012/2013, https://www.destatis.de/DE/Themen/Gesellschaft-

Umwelt/Einkommen-Konsum-Lebensbedingungen/Zeitverwendung/Tabellen/aktivitaeten-geschlecht-zve.html.  

Table 2.2. Time-use survey in Spain, 2002/03 and 2009/10 

Average time use of persons aged 10 and older by males 

Activities 
Males Females 

2002-03 2009-10 2002-03 2009-10 

Personal care 11:24 11:35 11:21 11:29 

Work 3:37 3:03 1:44 1:53 

Studies 0:42 0:47 0:43 0:47 

Household and family 1:30 1:50 4:24 4:04 

Volunteer work and meetings 0:11 0:11 0:16 0:15 

Social life and entertainment 1:32 1:01 1:27 0:57 

Sports and outdoor activities 1:32 1:01 1:27 0:57 

Hobbies 0:27 0:44 0:12 0:23 

The media 2:25 2:45 2:08 2:33 

Journeys and unspecified time 1:15 1:14 1:05 1:07 

Source: Instituto Nacional de Estadística (2010[112]), Time Use Survey (TUS), https://www.ine.es/en/prensa/eet_prensa_en.htm.  

Cultural participation activity that is related to the production and dissemination of user-generated 

content in particular is still very poorly understood and structured in terms of statistical 

measurement. For instance, internet activity is typically generically classified as leisure time or media use. 

Such information will be needed to understand how new forms of participation (related to the “open 

platform” approach) is changing individual and collective attitudes and habits for both passive and active 

cultural participation. The measurement frameworks developed need to reflect the complex reality of 

cultural participation in the digital age.  

Expenditure on cultural activities by households and the public sector can complement 

other measures of cultural participation 

Household expenditure could be another source of information on cultural participation activities, 

but it only considers those forms of participation that have to do with paying a ticket or fee.2 This 

kind of data is of special importance in tracking how market-mediated access to culture is influenced by 

https://www.destatis.de/DE/Themen/Gesellschaft-Umwelt/Einkommen-Konsum-Lebensbedingungen/Zeitverwendung/Tabellen/aktivitaeten-geschlecht-zve.html
https://www.destatis.de/DE/Themen/Gesellschaft-Umwelt/Einkommen-Konsum-Lebensbedingungen/Zeitverwendung/Tabellen/aktivitaeten-geschlecht-zve.html
https://www.ine.es/en/prensa/eet_prensa_en.htm
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economic cycles. Expenditure data can provide detailed insights into how the cultural participation of 

households responds to varying economic and social conditions. However, understanding fluctuations, for 

example substituting between higher and lower cost of cultural services, is not easy to discern without 

complementary data such as for time-use.  

Another source of indirect information on cultural participation patterns is the share of public 

expenditure devoted to culture-related activities. It can be helpful to compare, for example, the patterns 

of regional differences in local government spending (see Chapter 5) alongside household expenditure 

since both can indicate the net impact on cultural participation. In times of economic crisis, households 

spend less in market-mediated forms of leisure but may find a richer offering from publicly financed 

institutions (if public financing is maintained), possibly driving adjustments in cultural participation choices.  

In selected European countries, there is a positive correlation between public expenditure on 

culture and cultural participation (Figure 2.14). This relationship is found even for participation in areas 

that generally receive less or no public financing such as cinema and live performances. This seems to 

suggest that there could be a complementarity between public and private expenditure: as publicly 

financed cultural institutions enrich their offering thanks to more public spending, increased attendance 

also stimulates attendance in non-publicly-financed cultural activities. At the same time, it could be that 

high levels of cultural participation create the political consensus conditions for high levels of public 

spending in culture, so a causal relationship may be at play, and in either direction.  

Figure 2.14. Correlation between public expenditure on culture and cultural activities for selected 
European countries 
Regional averages over 1995 (or earliest) to 2019 (or latest) available data 

 

Note: Each data point represents a country at different points in time. 

Source: Ad-hoc data collection, see list of sources in Annex 2.A. 
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Policy perspectives 

Cultural participation has been a relatively neglected policy topic, calling for greater policy action 

given its manifold impacts across policy spheres. It can be used to address key societal and economic 

challenges, such as fostering social inclusion and cohesion or promoting entrepreneurship and innovation, 

from very different angles and through very different methods compared to the policy mainstream. On one 

hand, it is through participation that culture may spark individual and social processes of behavioural 

change that positively impact social value creation and the pursuit of public interest goals. Cultural 

participation has been shown to promote human development and active citizenship, facilitating the 

acquisition of important capabilities and the prevalence of pro-social dispositions. On the other hand, 

cultural participation also provides an important basis for the support of cultural and creative production, 

irrespective of whether access to such production entails the payment of a ticket or fee that results in a 

direct economic impact.  

In countries with higher levels of cultural participation, one can also expect relatively higher 

spending on culture and, vice versa, high levels of cultural spending pave the way to higher levels 

of cultural participation. This is likely a process of mutual causation, where more cultural participation 

causes more spending, but also vice versa where more spending invites even more participation. 

Moreover, high participation rates can be reflective of broader societal values, which also influence public 

spending decisions and public policies which further reinforce this relationship.  

Broaden the scope of the policy approach to cultural participation 

The policy rationale for public spending in culture, and for the development of cultural 

participation, generally tends to be narrowly focused on support for culture as a merit good. 

However, cultural participation may have important implications for health and well-being, innovation, 

social cohesion, and even responsible environmental behaviours. This implies that the policy approach to 

cultural participation could evolve to broaden in scope. Cultural participation should be considered relevant 

in all other policy contexts where cultural participation brings about major effects: e.g. health, social 

change, research and innovation, environment and climate, and education, among others. 

One example of this broader approach is found in the European Commission’s, New European 

Agenda for Culture (NEAC). Through the innovative notion of cultural crossovers, the NEAC explicitly 

recognises the importance of the trans-sectoral impacts related to cultural participation. However, it is 

important that the principles set forth in the agenda are both pursued in future policy choices and promoted 

beyond the European policy sphere. For instance, the interest toward the impacts of cultural participation 

on health and well-being is now quickly escalating both in the global research scene and in the policy 

sphere.  

Develop a common statistical framework, including for inter-regional and international 

comparisons  

For cultural participation to be viewed as a vehicle to achieve multiple policy goals, timely, 

systematic, comprehensive and consistent statistical frameworks are needed. This data would help 

to underpin measurement and the evaluation of policy actions on cultural participation. Promoting the 

development of such a framework, in collaboration with national statistical institutes and other relevant 

institutions collecting and analysing statistical data at various territorial scales and capacities, is one of the 

most pressing needs to further this agenda. Promoting this at an international scale is also very valuable 

for benchmarking and learning.  
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Promote research on the causal effects of cultural participation on other social impacts 

More research is needed on the causal effects of cultural participation on target areas of special 

relevance for social impact. Even in fields such as the relationship between cultural participation, health 

and well-being, much of the available evidence is of a correlational rather than causal nature. This is due 

to the longer timeframes and significant resources needed for longitudinal analyses and randomised trials 

to ascertain causal effects. Further research could be connected directly to specific experiments in policy 

design, to improve the connection between new evidence and concrete policy implementation. The 

development of a solid basis for experimentation, according to rigorous scientific evaluation standards, is 

required for a truly evidence-based approach to cultural participation. 

Create new collaborations between cultural and non-cultural institutions 

Given the promise of culture-driven crossovers with high potential for social and economic impact, 

it is important to create the conditions for them to unfold. To make this happen, there is a need to 

break old silos and build bridges between different disciplinary and professional spheres. New 

collaborations between cultural and non-cultural institutions can help in innovating, experimenting and 

implementing crossover projects (e.g. between museums or theatres and hospitals, between orchestras 

and educational institutions, or between independent art spaces and urban planners, etc.). This new 

dialogue requires careful preparation on both sides. The launch of pilot programmes to establish common 

ground and understanding, build trust, and develop professional skills with bridging functions can help in 

this direction. The monitoring and evaluation of such pilot projects will be important for learning and building 

the evidence base to better inform wider policy initiatives. 

Engage regional governments and institutions together 

The regional scale is in an intermediate position between the country-wide scale, which necessarily 

calls for macro policies, and the local scale, which requires adaptations. The effects and appeal of 

cultural participation also depend to a large extent upon the local socio-cultural environment and on local 

history. The regional scale can therefore be helpful for experimentation on cultural participation-driven 

crossovers. In certain contexts, entertainment-oriented vs. high arts and culture-oriented forms of 

participation may have a different appeal. In others, income inequalities may or may not become a barrier 

to certain forms of pay-walled participation. The relationship between the cultural participation of residents 

and the logic of cultural tourism development, especially in art and heritage cities, is another field. Peer 

learning across different regions and territories may be extremely useful to build more expertise and 

awareness of the potential and pitfalls of culture-driven local development. Promoting the creation of a 

community of practice within regions, across countries and across continents may therefore be a promising 

opportunity to promote greater experimentation, learning and impact.  
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Annex 2.A. Data sources for cultural participation 

Due to a lack of a common source of cultural participation statistics, different official data sources have 

been used. The selected data were harmonised as much as possible to facilitate comparisons across 

countries. The exclusion of some countries depends on data availability and/or extreme heterogeneity. 

Data was also modified to reflect the OECD TL2 territorial classification. The population-weighted values 

have been obtained from OECD demographic data.   

Annex Table 2.A.1. Data sources and reference years 

Country Variable Reference years Source Link 

All countries Regional demography 1995-2019 OECD https://stats.oecd.org  

Austria Cinema attendance 2000-18 Statistik Austria https://www.statistik.at  

Museum visits 1995-2018 

Library users 2000-18 

Library visits 2006-18 

Belgium Cinema attendance 2010-17 Statbel https://statbel.fgov.be 

Library visits 2006-18 Flemish Government https://vlaanderen.be 

Canada Cinema attendance 2008-10 Statistics Canada https://www150.statcan.gc.ca 

Live show attendance 2014-18   

Museum visits 2013-15 Government of Canada https://www.canada.ca 

Library users 2010-10 Canadian Library 
Association 

http://cla.ca 

Library visits 

Czech Republic Library users 2010-18 Czso https://vdb.czso.cz 

Library visits 

Museum visits 2008-18 Nipos https://www.statistikakultury.cz 

Denmark Museum visits 2017-19 Statistics Denmark https://www.statbank.dk 

Library visits 2009-19 

Live show attendance 2010-15 

Cinema attendance 2014-19 

Estonia Museum visits 1995-2019 Eesti Statistika http://andmebaas.stat.ee 

Library visits 2019-19 

Live show attendance 2004-18 

Cinema attendance 1995-2018 

Public spending 1995-2019 

Finland 

 

Museum visits 2007-19 National Board of 
Antiquities 

https://www.museotilasto.fi 

Library visits 1999-2019 Ministry of Education and 
Culture 

https://tilastot.kirjastot.fi 

Public spending 2015-19 Statistics Finland http://pxnet2.stat.fi 

France Cinema attendance 1995-2019 French Government https://www.data.gouv.fr 

Museum visits 2005-16 Ministry of Culture https://data.culture.gouv.fr 

https://stats.oecd.org/
https://www.statistik.at/
https://statbel.fgov.be/
https://vlaanderen.be/
https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/
https://www.canada.ca/
http://cla.ca/
https://vdb.czso.cz/
https://www.statistikakultury.cz/
https://www.statbank.dk/
http://andmebaas.stat.ee/
https://www.museotilasto.fi/
https://tilastot.kirjastot.fi/
http://pxnet2.stat.fi/
https://www.data.gouv.fr/
https://data.culture.gouv.fr/
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Country Variable Reference years Source Link 

Germany Museum visits 2002-18 Destatis https://www-genesis.destatis.de 

Library visits 2000-19 

Live show attendance 2000-18 

Cinema attendance 2000-19 

Public spending 2005-15 

Greece Museum visits 1998-2019 Hellenic Statistical 
Authority 

https://www.statistics.gr 

Hungary Museum visits 2000-2018 Hcso https://www.ksh.hu 

Library users 2000-18 

Live show attendance 2000-19 

Cinema attendance 2000-19 

Iceland Museum visits 1995-2018 Statistics Iceland http://px.hagstofa.is 

Cinema attendance 1996-2014 

Israel Museum visits 2008-16 Central Bureau of 
Statistics 

https://www.cbs.gov.il 

Cinema attendance 2008-19 

Italy Museum visits 2010-18 Istat https://www.istat.it 

Library users 

Live show attendance 

Cinema attendance 

Japan Cinema attendance 2009-18 Ministry of Economy, 
Trade and Industry 

https://www.meti.go.jp 

Museum visits 2007-17 Japanese Government https://www.e-stat.go.jp 

South Korea Library visits 2018-18 Kosis http://kosis.kr 

Museum visits Korean Film Council http://www.kobis.or.kr 

Cinema attendance Ministry of Culture, Sports 
and Tourism 

https://www.mcst.go.kr 

Latvia Museum visits 1995-2019 Official Statistics of Latvia https://data.csb.gov.lv 

Library users 2003-19 

Live show attendance 1995-2019 

Cinema attendance 

Public spending 2001-18 http://data1.csb.gov.lv 

Lithuania Museum visits 1995-2019 Lietuvos Statistika https://osp.stat.gov.lt 

Cinema attendance 2010-19 

Public spending 2004-19 

Library users 2006-19 Lithuanian National 
Library 

https://lnb.lt 

Library visits 

Luxembourg Museum visits 1995-2009 Statec https://statistiques.public.lu 

Library users 2012-19 

Live show attendance 2002-09 

Cinema attendance 1995-2009 

Mexico Cinema attendance 2019-19 Instituto Mexicano de 
Cinematografia 

http://www.imcine.gob.mx 

Museum visits 2016-19 Inegi https://www.inegi.org.mx 

https://www-genesis.destatis.de/
https://www.statistics.gr/
https://www.ksh.hu/
http://px.hagstofa.is/
https://www.cbs.gov.il/
https://www.istat.it/
https://www.meti.go.jp/
https://www.e-stat.go.jp/
http://kosis.kr/
http://www.kobis.or.kr/
https://www.mcst.go.kr/
https://data.csb.gov.lv/
http://data1.csb.gov.lv/
https://osp.stat.gov.lt/
https://lnb.lt/
https://statistiques.public.lu/
http://www.imcine.gob.mx/
https://www.inegi.org.mx/
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Country Variable Reference years Source Link 

Netherlands Museum visits 1995-2019 Museums Association https://www.museumvereniging.nl 

Cinema attendance 2001-19 Boekman Foundation https://www.boekman.nl 

Library visits 2015-18 National Library of the 
Netherlands 

https://www.bibliotheekinzicht.nl 

Live show attendance 1999-2018 Statistics Netherlands https://opendata.cbs.nl 

Norway Museum visits 2004-19 Statistics Norway https://www.ssb.no 

Library visits 2015-19 

Cinema attendance 

Poland Museum visits 1995-2019 Statistics Poland https://bdl.stat.gov.pl 

Library users 

Live show attendance 2009-19 

Cinema attendance 1995-2019 

Portugal Museum visits 2012-18 Francisco Manuel dos 
Santos Foundation 

https://www.pordata.pt 

Live show attendance 2002-19 

Cinema attendance 2006-19 

Public spending 2009-18 

Library users 2016-18 General Directorate for 
Book, Archives and 
Libraries 

http://bibliotecas.dglab.gov.pt 

Library visits 

Slovak Republic Museum visits 2001-18 Statistical Office of the 
Slovak Republic 

https://slovak.statistics.sk 

Library users 

Library visits 

Live show attendance 2009-18 

Slovenia Museum visits 2004-15 Statistical Office of the 
Republic of Slovenia 

https://pxweb.stat.si 

Library users 2000-19 BibSist https://bibsist.nuk.uni-lj.si 

Library visits 

Spain Museum visits 2000-18 Ministry of Culture and 
Sports 

https://www.culturaydeporte.gob.es 

Library users 

Library visits 2002-18 

Live show attendance 2003-18 

Cinema attendance 2000-19 

Public spending 2015-17 

Sweden Museum visits 2003-19 The Swedish Agency for 
Cultural Policy Analysis 

https://kulturanalys.se 

Cinema attendance 2001-16 Swedish Film Institute https://www.filminstitutet.se 

Library visits 2004-12 Statistics Sweden http://www.statistikdatabasen.scb.se 

Switzerland Cinema attendance 2009-19 Federal Statistical Office https://www.atlas.bfs.admin.ch 

Library users 2003-19 https://www.bfs.admin.ch 

 Library visits 

https://www.museumvereniging.nl/
https://www.boekman.nl/
https://www.bibliotheekinzicht.nl/
https://opendata.cbs.nl/
https://www.ssb.no/
https://bdl.stat.gov.pl/
https://www.pordata.pt/
http://bibliotecas.dglab.gov.pt/
https://slovak.statistics.sk/
https://pxweb.stat.si/
https://bibsist.nuk.uni-lj.si/
https://www.culturaydeporte.gob.es/
https://kulturanalys.se/
https://www.filminstitutet.se/
http://www.statistikdatabasen.scb.se/
https://www.atlas.bfs.admin.ch/
https://www.bfs.admin.ch/
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Notes 

 

1 Data are fragmented and incomplete, and often reflects different criteria, both in apparent ways (such as 

in the measurement of library attendance), and in subtle ways (when measures that nominally refer to the 

same variables might in practice follow different criteria in different countries). 

2 In addition, in most countries it is included in broader categories that cover recreation, which can also 

include activities such as watching sports, gambling, non-cultural tourism, and so on. 
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